# S195423

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

TERRY VANGELDER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal No. D059012

San Diego Sup. Ct. App. Div. No CA221258

Superior Court No. M039138

SUPREME COURT

AUG - 8 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deputy

Appeal From the Superior Court of California, San Diego County, Case No. M039138 The Honorable Gregory W. Pollack, Judge

> JAN I. GOLDSMITH, City Attorney TRICIA PUMMILL, Assistant City Attorney JONATHAN I. LAPIN, Deputy City Attorney California State Bar No. 194552

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

In a prosecution under Vehicle Code section 23152(b) seeking to prove the defendant's blood alcohol level was .08% or above based upon grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath, if an expert testifies that (1) the deep lung breath sample measured by breath testing devices is affected by physiological factors in the airway and (2) that sample is therefore unreliable, is that testimony inadmissible because it violates the prohibition against partition ratio testimony established in *People v. Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th 885 (1994)?

## **REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW**

Drunk driving is one of the most common crimes and often has serious consequences, so successful prosecution of such crimes is of high importance. Drunk driving prosecutions usually involve breath test results, which are used to prove that the defendant drove with a blood alcohol level of .08% or above, in violation of Vehicle Code section 23152(b). Under that statute, breath test results are based on grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath. Pursuant to *People v. Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th 885 (1994), evidence of the relationship between breath alcohol and blood alcohol levels, commonly referred to as "partition ratio," is inadmissible.

Breath test devices used in drunk driving cases measure the alcohol in breath exhaled through the mouth. The process of breathing involves air being drawn in through the mouth and brought down to the alveoli of the lungs, where oxygen is transferred into the blood and carbon dioxide is transferred out of the blood. If there is alcohol in the blood, alcohol is also transferred to the air. The air (breath) then travels back out, through the upper lungs, trachea, throat, and mouth. Along this journey the alcohol

content of the air is affected by temperature in the lungs and the airway, alcohol in the throat, the manner of breathing, and other factors.

Notwithstanding this journey, over sixty years of science and legal scholarship has shown that the amount of alcohol, as measured in the expired breath, is approximately 2100 times the amount of alcohol in the blood. California has codified this approximation in the Vehicle Code, and evidence that the 2100 to 1 correlation, commonly referred to as "partition ratio," is only an approximation is not admissible.

In this case the defense attempted to introduce evidence that the concentration of alcohol in the air at the alveolar level is affected by temperature in the lungs and the airway, alcohol in the throat, the manner of breathing, and other factors as the breath leaves the body. The trial court sustained the prosecutor's objection that this testimony related to prohibited partition ratio testimony, and the appellate division upheld this ruling. The defense petitioned the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, for review, arguing that the "entire premise of the [breath] machine is that only alveolar (deep lung) air is measured by the machine," and the prohibition against partition ratio evidence should apply only to evidence of processes at the alveolar level. Petitioner's Petition for Transfer for Review in the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, page 1.

The Court of Appeal adopted the assumption that "such devices only measure alveolar (deep lung) air." *People v. Vangelder*, 197 Cal. App. 4th 1, 2 (2011). According to the court, the defense expert sought not to testify about variations in hypothetical ratios at the alveolar level, but rather about "problems in obtaining pure data about blood alcohol from the intake of air" utilized in breath testing devices. *Id.* at 4. That is, a measurement of alcohol concentration in the air at the alveolar level is affected by the journey of the air from the mouth, the trachea to the lungs and back the

other way. Because the defense expert limited this testimony to the nonalveolar level, the defense argued, and the Court of Appeal agreed, that this was not partition ratio testimony.

The Court of Appeal opinion evinces a fundamental misunderstanding of what is meant by "partition ratio" testimony. The number used to correlate breath alcohol concentration to blood alcohol concentration has been empirically determined by comparing breath and blood samples taken at the same time and has been legislatively set despite known variations to that number. That number is 2100 to 1 and is known as the standard partition ratio. The breath samples tested when setting the standard partition ratio have never been pure alveolar samples (and as a practical matter could not be). Rather, they have always been essentially alveolar samples that have journeyed from the deep lung out of the body. Therefore, the partition ratios that have been measured, determined, scientifically agreed upon, and codified in law have always incorporated the effects that the Court of Appeal found not to involve partition ratio.

By authorizing evidence regarding the correlation between alcohol concentration in the breath and alcohol concentration in the blood, the Court of Appeal opinion completely subverts this Court's opinion in *People v. Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th 855 (1994).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE/CASE HISTORY

Sergeant Berg of the California Highway Patrol at approximately 2:45 a.m. observed Appellant traveling at over 125 miles per hour on Highway 15. (ESS at 87–88, 93.) Sergeant Berg was an experienced officer with over 26 years experience as a peace officer with the California Highway Patrol and over 500 arrests and 1000 investigations for driving under the influence. (ESS at 84–86.) The sergeant was able to pull Appellant over after about six and a half miles. (ESS at 93, 102, 115, 117

and 119.) The sergeant observed Appellant displayed objective symptoms of intoxication. Appellant had the odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from him and red, watery eyes. (ESS at 105–106.) When asked how much he had to drink that evening, Appellant responded that he had two glasses of wine that evening. (ESS at 107.) The sergeant decided to detain Appellant and have him evaluated by another officer for driving under the influence of alcohol. (ESS at 107, lines 11–21.)

Officer Guzman performed the DUI evaluation. Appellant told the officer he had three glasses of wine that evening and he started drinking at 8:00 p.m. and stopped drinking at 9:00 p.m. (ESS at 189.) Appellant took a preliminary alcohol screening (PAS) test which revealed his blood alcohol level was .095 and .086 at 3:09 a.m. and 3:11 a.m. respectively. (ESS at 199–200, 252.) Based upon Appellant's performance on the field sobriety tests Appellant was arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol. (ESS at 205.)

Appellant submitted to a breath test which showed his breath alcohol level to be .088 and .087 at 3:37 a.m. and 3:39 a.m. respectively. (ESS at 207, 262–263; at 296.) Appellant also submitted a blood sample at 3:53 a.m. which tested at a blood alcohol level of .088 and .087. (ESS at 208, 296, 302.)

The People's expert witness testified that she estimated Appellant's blood alcohol level to be .09 at the time of driving based upon the test results, the body's processing of alcohol, and the timing of the events. (ESS at 302–304.)

Appellant and his son testified that Appellant had three glasses of wine between 7:00 p.m. and 10:00 p.m., then went hiking and returned home where Appellant had one beer around 2:00-2:15 a.m. (ESS 388, 389, 393–394.)

Appellant objected to the admission of the PAS test result to the third decimal place. (ESS at 32.) The court found that such evidence while in conflict with California Code of Regulations, Title 17, based upon case law and the truth in evidence provisions of the California Constitution, Article I, section 28(d) (Proposition 8) the result was admissible to the third decimal point. (ESS at 51.)

Appellant's expert witness, Professor Hlastala, sought to testify about the inaccuracies of the breath test as it relates to the blood alcohol level and the court excluded his testimony on the basis that it was partition ratio evidence and irrelevant. (ESS at 351–57.) Professor Hlastala began testifying regarding the pathway and physical variables that occur inherent to breath tests as follows.

And we have, in the airway, a lot of mucus and water and that mucus lining in the airway plays an important role in protecting us from particles and things we inhale goes on to this mucus, then comes out to the mouth. And it mostly—it would get those things we swallow and goes into the digestive system. But if we have alcohol, there are little blood vessels that come along here, and these blood vessels, those are called "bronchial vessels." And so they bring alcohol so there's a lot of alcohol if you have alcohol in your bloodstream. Now, what happens is if we inhale and we pick up alcohol from this mucus and by the time we pick it up here, and by the time we get down to this air sack, it's already filled up and saturated.

(ESS at 328, lines 3–18.)

The People objected at this point and a hearing pursuant to Evidence Code section 403 was conducted outside the jury's presence to determine if the expert's testimony concerned partition ratio. At the 403 hearing Professor Hlastala initially testified as to four factors which cause a breath test to not be scientifically accurate. These four factors were: breathing pattern, body temperature, hematocrit (or percent of red blood cells), and

breath temperature. (ESS at 349, line 16 through 350, line 2.) Professor Hlastala testified that these factors were not directly related to partition ratio because partition ratio applies to a state of equilibrium in a closed container which is not representative of how the human body processes alcohol. (ESS at 350, lines 5–25.) The court then inquired as to two additional factors, gender and medical conditions, and whether Professor Hlastala thought they were also factors which affected the scientific reliability of breath tests which could be added to the list previously discussed. (ESS at 355, line 17 through 355, line 9.) Professor Hlastala testified that these two factors also affect the scientific reliability of breath tests. (ESS at 355, line 17 through 355, line 9.) The court's attempt to clarify Professor Hlastala's opinion on partition ratios, was not particularly successful. Professor Hlastala responded to the court's question by answering that he did not like the term "partition ratio" because he thought it did not accurately reflect the processes that were occurring. (ESS at 356, line 22 through 357, line 5.) Additionally Professor Hlastala acknowledged that the factors he mentioned as affecting the accuracy of the breath test result in people having different partition ratios than the standard partition ratio used by California law. (ESS at 357, lines 6–12.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

# **BACKGROUND**

## A. THE SCIENCE OF ALCOHOL TESTING

Breath machines are based on the chemical principal of Henry's Law, which states the concentration of a volatile substance (alcohol) dissolved in a liquid (blood) is directly proportional to the vapor pressure of the substance in the air. Annot. 90 A.L.R. 4th 155, 160 (1991). It is this principle of direct proportionality between the amount of a substance in a

liquid and the amount of that same substance in the air above that liquid that is the basis for the breath machine conversion of blood alcohol result (alcohol substance in a liquid solution) based upon a breath alcohol sample (alcohol substance in the air). Defense of Drunk Driving Cases, Volume 2, section 18.01(2) (3d ed. 1996). Henry's Law assumes a state of equilibrium, where factors such as pressure and temperature are fixed, and under such conditions the direct proportionality can be numerically determined as a specific ratio known as Henry's coefficient. *Id.* Because the ratio can change depending upon factors such as pressure and temperature it is referred to as a coefficient, rather than a constant.

In the human body, alcohol in the blood diffuses into alveolar air space in the lungs and is exhaled in the breath. *People v. McNeal*, 46 Cal. 4th 1183 1190–91 (2009). "As the arterial blood passes through the lungs, some of the alcohol will become vaporized in the alveolar air and expelled in the breath." *State v. Downie*, 117 N.J. 450, 459–60 (N.J. 1990). The lungs in a living human do not exist in a fixed state free of pressure, volume and temperature changes, so the application of Henry's law set ratio to the human body results in variability. With breath-alcohol testing a person gives a breath sample by providing a prolonged exhalation, and an analysis is conducted of the last portion of the breath under the theory that it approximates the alveolar air space where the gas exchange is occurring under principles of Henry's Law. Defense of Drunk Driving Cases, Volume 2, section 18.01(2) (3d ed. 1996).

This theory is put into practice using a "black box" method to empirically measure the variation associated in breath testing and determine whether an acceptable conversion of breath-alcohol, measured using standard breath testing procedures, to blood-alcohol can be made. This was done by conducting correlation studies wherein blood samples drawn from

an individual's arm were compared to breath samples taken from that individual at the same time. *People v. Ireland*, 33 Cal App. 4th 686 (1995); see also State v. Hanks, 172 Vt. 93, 95 (Vt. 2001) ("a conversion rate of 2100:1 as an assumed blood-breath ratio, which represents the relationship between the number of alcohol molecules in the bloodstream to the number present in the breath when both substances are tested simultaneously.") Because the standard was set by looking at numerous individuals in various correlation studies, the amount of overall variance between the blood and breath alcohol results was known. However, because of the black box nature of this method an awareness of every factor affecting such variability and what particular contribution each factor made to the variability was not known or required. While some studies found average partition ratios were around 2300:1, the ratio chosen for the conversion was set at a much lower than average level, 2100:1, to give the benefit of the doubt to the subject in most instances. State v. Downie, 117 N.J. 450, 460 (N.J. 1990); see also McNeal, 4 Cal. 4th at 1192 ("Despite this recognized variability, most scientists agree that the 2,100-to-1 ratio roughly approximates or even underestimates the ratio of most people).

# B. THE LAW OF DUI BREATH TESTING VIS-À-VIS PARTITION RATIO

In *Burg v Municipal Court*, 35 Cal. 3d. 257 (1983), the court upheld the first California statute to criminalize driving with a specified percentage of alcohol in the blood. *Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th at 888. At that time Vehicle Code section 23152(b) defined the offense solely in terms of "grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood" but allowed a conversion for alcohol in breath using the standard partition ratio, treating the amount of alcohol in 2,100 milliliters of breath as equivalent to the amount of alcohol in 1 milliliter of blood. *Id.* at 888–89. *See also* Cal. Code Regulation, Title 17,

section 1220.4 sudb. (f). It was scientifically accepted at this time that many variables including body temperature, atmospheric pressure, the individual's hematocrit, and speed and depth of breathing pattern could affect the actual ratio of an individual's breath-alcohol concentration to blood-alcohol concentrations. *Bransford*, 8 Cal 4th at 889; *see also Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 689. Accordingly, courts allowed defendants to attack the accuracy of the breath-test on the basis of this variability, first as it concerned a defendant's personal partition ratio, and later on the basis that the standard partition ratio is merely an approximation which differs among individuals. *Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th at 889.

In 1990 the Legislature amended Vehicle Code section 23152(b), effective in 1991, by changing the type of prohibited alcohol level to include breath. While the offense was formerly defined solely in terms of "grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood," the amendment now defined prohibited alcohol level in terms of "grams of alcohol per 100" milliliters of blood or grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath." Thus the amendment criminalized the act of driving either with the specified bloodalcohol level or with the specified breath-alcohol level. Id. at 890. The legislative history of this amendment indicated the Legislature thought partition ratio evidence was unnecessarily complicated, expensive and time consuming for the courts, and that it did not promote but instead undermined successful enforcement of the legislative scheme. *Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 689; Bransford, 8 Cal. 4th at 891. When the Legislature made this change it was aware of the complexities of converting breathalcohol values to blood-alcohol values and did so only after considering the opinions of experts on the subject. *Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 690, 693. In defining the per se DUI crime by using the standard partition ratio the Legislature necessarily accepted the variability that existed between breathalcohol and blood-alcohol values. In *Bransford* this Court ruled that such a legislative determination made any evidence as to the factors of that partition ratio variability is irrelevant. "Where scientific opinions conflict on a particular point, the Legislature is free to adopt the opinion it chooses, and the court will not substitute its judgment for that of the Legislature." *Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 693 (quoting, *State v. Brayman*, 110 Wn.2d 183, 193 (1988)).

In *Bransford* this Court held the trial court properly excluded evidence as to the variability of the partition ratio because it was irrelevant as to the per se DUI, because that crime was defined by the prohibited breath-alcohol level using the standard partition ratio. In contrast, the generic DUI, defined as driving under the influence of alcohol pursuant to Vehicle Code section 23152(a), is not defined by use of the standard partition ratio.

The generic DUI charge does carry a rebuttable presumption which allows the jury to presume the defendant is under the influence if they find the defendant has a blood-alcohol level of .08 or more. Vehicle Code section 23610; see also CALJIC No. 12.61; CALCRIM No. 2110. This presumption, unlike the per se DUI, is defined only in terms of a blood alcohol level and not a breath alcohol level. McNeal, 46 Cal. 4th at 1196–97. While the same conversion factor of 2,100 to 1 (the standard partition ratio) can be used to convert breath alcohol results to a blood-alcohol level, that conversion factor is not a part of the definition of the generic DUI offense presumption. Id. This Court in McNeal therefore held that evidence of partition ratio variability is relevant to rebut that presumption for the generic DUI charge, but it is irrelevant as to the per se DUI charge. Id. at 1196, Bransford, 8 Cal. 4th 885; People v. Lepine, 215 Cal. App. 3d 91 (1989).

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION TO EXCLUDE APPELLANT'S EXPERT'S TESTIMONY BECAUSE IT WAS IRRELEVANT TO THE "PER SE DUI" CHARGE PURSUANT TO VEHICLE CODE SECTION 23152(B)

# A. THE BREATH TEST RELIABILITY IS NOT BASED UPON MEASURING ONLY ALVEOLAR AIR AND ANY BRONCHIAL ALCOHOL EFFECT IS PART AND PARCEL OF THE PARTITION RATIO

The Court of Appeal decision sets up a straw man in the form of a faulty assumption, namely that the breath test machine is based upon the principle that it is required to measure *only* alveolar air. *Vangelder*, 197 Cal. App. 4th at 2. Based upon this invalid premise the court found that the defense expert's testimony raised the possibility that the sample taken by the breath machine was "defective or inaccurate" and held that excluding such testimony was error.

The statutes regarding breath-alcohol testing and the per se DUI charge affirmatively indicate that such a sample is not required to be pure alveolar air. Vehicle Code section 23152(b) does not even refer to alveolar air, let alone require the sample to be composed of only alveolar air. Vehicle Code section 23152(b) prohibits a person from having a breath alcohol level of .08 percent or more "per 210 liters of breath." Thus, the Vehicle Code only concerns itself with the general term of breath.

The manner of collecting breath alcohol samples and analysis of such is addressed in California Code of Regulations. Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, Title 17, section 1219, breath-alcohol samples are required to be taken in accordance with regulations adopted by the State Department of Health. California Code of Regulations, Title 17, section 1219.3, requires that breath samples "be expired breath which is **essentially**"

alveolar in composition." (Emphasis added.) The use of the word "essentially" indicates an acknowledgement that such a sample is not composed of only alveolar air.

Moreover, breath-alcohol samples have never been pure alveolar samples (and as a practical matter cannot be). It would be too invasive to insert a tube into a live arrested person's lungs to attempt to extract pure alveolar air, and the alveolar space is extremely small. Defense of Drunk Driving Cases, Volume 2, section 18.01(2) (3d ed. 1996). Rather, the breath-alcohol samples from their inception have always been essentially alveolar samples that begin with an inhalation of outside air which travels down the airway to the deep lungs and back up the airway and out of the body through the mouth. Obviously that airway in humans has always had blood vessels next to it.

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