IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	S195423
Plaintiff/Respondent,)	Court of Appeal No. D059012
v.)	Superior Court App. Div.
TERRY VANGELDER,)	No. CA221258
Defendant/Appellant.)	Super. Ct. No. M039138

ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW FILED BY PETITIONER SAN DIEGO CITY ATTORNEY

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 2 6 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

CHARLES M. SEVILLA State Bar No. 45930 1010 Second Avenue, Suite 1825 San Diego, California 92101 Telephone: (619) 232-2222 Attorney for Terry Vangelder Defendant and Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFENSE HAS A RIGHT TO SHOW THAT BREATH ALCOHOL SAMPLING DATA DOES NOT COMPLY WITH TITLE 17 REGULATIONS TO MEASURE "ESSENTIALLY ALVEOLAR AIR" AND WAS FURTHER AFFECTED BY OTHER PHYSIOLOGICAL VARIABLES TO COMPROMISE THE ACCURACY OF THE MEASUREMENT.

A. There Was no Partition Ratio Defense Proffered.

The 2100:1 partition ratio used in breath testing machines is simply a ratio between two numbers, blood and breath, meaning that the amount of alcohol in 2,100 milliliters of breath is considered equivalent to the amount of alcohol in 1 milliliter of blood. (People v. McNeal, supra at 1188.) That ratio may be affected by a number of factors that can move the numbers up or down. If a defendant presents a "partition ratio" defense, he or she is arguing that the ratio numbers fluctuate in the population generally or that the specific defendant's ratio is less than 2100:1, resulting in the breath alcohol reading being inflated. That defense is available for attacking the Vehicle Code § 23152(a) driving under the influence count due to the presumption, but not the (b) count per McNeal.

Petitioner raised no such defense. Yet, the trial court excluded the expert's testimony by characterizing it as such. The Opinion properly found an abuse of discretion.⁹

⁹ "[T]he trial court seemed to assume that the .08 breath test result could not be rebutted in any fashion...." (Opn. 18; see 2RT 340, 341.) That assumption of law was erroneous. (People v. Soojian (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 491, 521 [misapplication of law is an abuse of discretion].) Further, the court's misapplication of the facts in deeming the proffer as nothing more than partition ratio evidence was also an abuse. (People v. Surplice (1962) 203 Cal.App.2d 784, 791 ["To exercise the power of judicial discretion all the (continued...)

The Petition accuses the Opinion as setting up a "straw man" requirement that breath machines "only" measure alcohol in alveolar air. (Pet. 12.) The assertion itself is a straw man argument. Dr. Hlastala never testified that "pure" alveolar air" was not being testing. He stated that *no* alveolar air was sampled by the machine. By regulation, a breath test must sample "essentially alveolar" air. Title 17 CCR § 1219.3 states that the air to be measured by the breath machine must be "essentially alveolar" (deep lung air):

A breath sample shall be expired breath which is essentially alveolar in composition. The quantity of the breath sample shall be established by direct volumetric measurement. The breath sample shall be collected only after the subject has been under continuous observation for at least fifteen minutes prior to collection of the breath sample, during which time the subject must not have ingested alcoholic beverages or other fluids, regurgitated, vomited, eaten, or smoked.

As noted, the sampling of alveolar air is the premise for the *subsequent* conversion of breath alcohol to a blood alcohol reading:

A breath alcohol concentration shall be converted to an equivalent blood alcohol concentration by a calculation based on the relationship: the amount of alcohol in 2,100 milliliters of *alveolar breath* is equivalent to the amount of alcohol in 1

⁹(...continued) material facts in evidence must be both known and considered, together also with the legal principles essential to an informed, intelligent and just decision"].)

¹⁰ The definition in Title 17 CCR §1215.1(m) states that "Alveolar" refers to the smallest air sacs in the lungs and to that portion of the expired breath which is in equilibrium with respect to alcohol with the immediately adjacent pulmonary blood".

milliliter of blood.

(Title 17 CCR § 1220.4(f).) Further, the results are to be stated based on alveolar air sampling. (See 17 CCR § 1221.5: "Expression of Analytical Results: Results of breath alcohol analysis shall be expressed as set forth in Section 1220.4.")

Because the scientific standards behind breath test accuracy are premised on the regulations embodied in Title 17 (People v. Williams, supra at 415-416), accuracy requires that "essentially" alveolar breath be tested. If that essentially alveolar air is not being tested, then the scientific premise supporting the test's accuracy is unsupported. That failing is why Dr. Hlastala's research¹¹ shows the inaccuracy of breath test results.

The Petition's argument that the statute (Veh. Code § 23152(b)) does not mention alveolar air and thus only concerns itself with "the general term of breath" is itself a breath-taking assertion. The statute reads:

It is unlawful for any person who has 0.08 percent or more, by weight, of alcohol in his or her blood to drive a vehicle.

For purposes of this article and Section 34501.16, percent, by weight, of alcohol in a person's blood is based upon grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood or grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath.

In any prosecution under this subdivision, it is a rebuttable presumption that the person had 0.08 percent or more, by weight, of alcohol in his or her blood at the time of driving the vehicle if the person had 0.08 percent or more, by weight, of alcohol in his or her blood at the time of the performance of a chemical test within three hours after the driving.

¹¹ The research was summarized in his paper: Hlastala, "Paradigm Shift for the Alcohol Breath Test," 55 J. Forensic Sciences 451 (March 2010).

The law requires breath machines to comply with Title 17. Under Health & Safety Code § 100700(a):

Laboratories engaged in the performance of forensic alcohol analysis tests by or for law enforcement agencies on blood, urine, tissue, or breath for the purposes of determining the concentration of ethyl alcohol in persons involved in traffic accidents or in traffic violations *shall comply* with Group 8 (commencing with Section 1215) of Subchapter 1 of Chapter 2 of Division 1 of *Title 17 of the California Code of Regulations*, as they exist on December 31, 2004, until the time when those regulations are revised pursuant to Section 100703. (Italics added.)

As this Court has stated, noncompliance with Title 17's CCR regulations is relevant and admissible evidence going to weight. (*See* People v. Williams (2002) 28 Cal.4th 408, 414; *see also* People v. Adams (1976) 59 Cal.App.3d 559, 567.)¹² The assertion in the Petition that only "general breath" is at issue is meritless.

The Petition seems to recognize this as it next takes up the regulations. (Pet. pp. 12-13.) Petitioner appears to agree (as it must) that "essentially alveolar air" must be sampled. However, petitioner argues that all the regulation requires is testing air out of the mouth. This is wrong as most obviously demonstrated by the regulation requiring a 15 minute wait prior to testing to insure no mouth alcohol comes out the mouth to contaminate the test. *See* 17 CCR § 1219.3.) Mouth alcohol can artificially increase an alcohol reading. (*See* Opn. p. 17.) But the Petition states that

As stated in an Attorney General Opinion, a California peace officer may not lawfully use breath testing devices unless the equipment and procedures used comply with regulations of State Department of Health Services. (Opn. # 88-1102, 72 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 226 [Oct. 26, 1989].)

the machines properly measure the breath "sample of the end of that exhalation [that] is taken." (Pet. p. 13.) If that were the only legal requirement, it would render Title 17 regulations obsolete. The requirement, as stated several times in the regulations, is that "essentially alveolar" air be tested. The word "essentially" means "inherently" or "constituting essence" or "of the utmost importance," "basic, indispensable, necessary." Petitioner's analyses either assumes that "essentially alveolar" is presumed to be part of the out-the-mouth sampling (as stated at Petition, p. 14), or that it is irrelevant from where in the lung the air tested emanates. Both formulations are wrong.

Far from Petitioner's view of what "essentially alveolar" air constitutes, Dr. Hlastala's testimony was that because of saturation, no alveolar air is being tested, but rather alcohol from other regions. Unless the regulations mean nothing, this testimony is relevant and should have been admitted. It is relevant because if the alcohol measured in breath is wrong, the later partition ratio conversion is wrong. It is relevant additionally because the assumption of the breath test (and the regulations) relies on the gas exchange at the alveolar region. If the breath test is measuring mostly air from the bronchial, trachea or throat, there is no scientific foundation for the conversion using the partition ratio.

As this Court stated in McNeal, the premise of the test is:

When a subject blows into a breath-testing machine, the device measures the amount of alcohol vapor expelled into alveolar spaces deep in the lungs. From this measurement of breath alcohol, a blood-alcohol percentage can be computed using a mathematical constant. The conversion from breath alcohol to blood alcohol is based on the chemistry principle of

¹³ http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/essential.

"Henry's law," which holds that there is "a constant ratio between the concentration of alcohol in the blood and the concentration of alcohol in the alveolar air of the lungs." (Taylor & Tayac, supra, Forensic Chemist: Blood-Alcohol, § 12.19, p. 770.)

(McNeal, supra at 1191.)

B. Petitioner's Argument that No Competent Evidence
Demonstrated that Bronchial Alcohol Effects Breath Test
Results is Refuted by the Proffered Testimony.

The simple answer to this contention (made at Pet. 14-15) is that Dr. Hlastala was conceded by the prosecution to be an expert and the prosecutor had no issues with his science. He testified the effects of non-alveolar air alcohol on breath tests made the results inaccurate. (2RT 351-353.) If the prosecution desires to challenge his evidence (supported by his research and that of others), the time to do so is in the courtroom and not on appeal.

The petitioner asserts that the affects of the contribution of throat, tracheal, and bronchial alcohol to the breath is "accounted for" by the legislatively-mandated partition ratio. (Pet. 15.) This ignores that the partition ratio is premised on an exchange of gases from blood to alveolar sacs in a location of relative equilibrium. There is no such equilibrium process at work in the other regions that provide the breath alcohol.

Finally, the Petition asserts that Dr. Hlastala stated that the same factors that affect breath alcohol measurement are the variables in the partition ratio. (Pet. p. 14.)

Dr. Hlastala's opinion about influences on breath measurement were premised on several factors that were not mentioned in the <u>People v. Bransford</u> (1994) 8 Cal.4th 885, 889 discussion of partition ratio variables. Dr. Hlastala testified that a breath test measurement may be inaccurate

based on the manner in which a breath sample is delivered to the machine, the major contributions of alcohol from the bronchial and tracheal airways, and the lack of alcohol from the alveolar sacs. He included as other factors affecting "breath value" the person's hematocrit (red blood cell count)¹⁴ and body and breath temperature.

Bransford stated factors influencing partition ratio variations could "include body temperature, atmospheric pressure, medical conditions, sex, and the precision of the measuring device." (Id. at 889.) When these were made part of the court's questioning of Dr. Hlastala, he testified he was *not* relying on atmospheric pressure (2RT 355) *or* machine precision in his opinion on breath measuring inaccuracy. (2RT351.) Further, he testified that in this case gender was not a likely influencing factor. (2RT 355-356.) While a medical condition like a lung disease could be a factor affecting breath value (2RT 356), there was no such issue in this case. Thus, of the factors recited in Bransford, only temperature (breath and body) are included in Dr. Hlastala's list. It can hardly be a remarkable point that temperature may influence more than one thing. As the Opinion states, it is "not dispositive that similar variables must be considered, when different types of analysis are concerned." (Opn., p. 24.)

C. Petitioner Made No People v. Kelly (1976) 17 Cal.3d 24 Objection at Trial

Finally, the Petition's concluding citation to <u>People v. Kelly</u>, *supra*, (Pet., p. 16) is meritless given that the prosecutor conceded both Dr. Hlastala's credentials and "science." The issue at the proffer hearing was

Hematocrit was not mentioned in <u>Bransford</u>, but was in <u>People v. McNeal</u> (2009) 46 Cal.4th1183, 1191.

not a contest on the accuracy of his science. The issue was whether he was really testifying to partition ratio. Petitioner thus waived any Kelly challenge by his failure to raise it at trial. Indeed, he *conceded* the science behind Dr. Hlastala's testimony and argued only that it was excludable as partition ratio evidence. Objection to scientific evidence regarding a Kelly foundation is waived unless raised in the trial court (People v. Clark (1993) 5 Cal.4th 950, 1018); it must be a specific objection to the precise area of science contested (People v. Geier (2007) 41 Cal.4th 555, 611); finally, a court has no sua sponte duty to consider the issue. (People v. Kaurish (1990) 52 Cal.3d 648, 688.)

Further, even if a <u>Kelly</u> challenge had been raised, it would have been meritless because Dr. Hlastala's testimony was expert opinion unrelated to the introduction of a new scientific technique or device. (*See* People v. Bui (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 1187, 1195.)

Finally, the statement that there was a purported lack of evidence in the scientific community that bronchial vessels in the airway have impact on breath results fails because Dr. Hlastala gave such testimony and that testimony was uncontested. (Pet., p. 16.)

CONCLUSION

Vangelder had a right to introduce his defense to the accuracy of the breath results produced by the prosecution. ¹⁵ As <u>People v. Adams</u>, *supra*,

¹⁵ The U.S. Supreme Court has often recognized that the right to present a defense requires that a defendant be given "a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." (California v. Trombetta (1984) 467 U.S. 479, 485.) This Court has stated "[T]he constitutional rights to counsel and to present a defense in a criminal case are among the most sacred and sensitive of our civil rights." (Magee v. Superior Court (1973) 8 Cal.3d 949, 954.) (continued...)

59 Cal.App.3d 567, states: "In the present case, as the regulations were not followed, appellants were entitled to attempt to discredit the results by showing that noncompliance affected their validity...." The Opinion correctly decided the issue.

The premise of the rule of law is the search for truth. The law does not enshrine disputed scientific assumptions behind impenetrable protective barriers. While most citizens do not become involved in murder and rape prosecutions, many have contact with the criminal justice system in the context of DUI cases. Drunk driving prosecutions have a profound impact on the average citizen's perception of the fairness and legitimacy of the criminal justice system. Elemental fairness requires a citizen accused be allowed to contest the State's case with relevant evidence.

For the above reasons, petitioner's petition should be denied.